
 
C-TRAN BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
 

September 26, 2013 
 

The C-TRAN Board of Directors Special Meeting was held Thursday, September 26, 2013 at the 
Vancouver Community Library, Columbia Room, 901 C. Street, Vancouver WA. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chair Bill Ganley called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Chair Ganley led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS 
PRESENT: Connie Jo Freeman, Bill Ganley, Bart Hansen, Ron Onslow (Alternative for Jim Irish), 

Roy Jennings (arrived at 7:32 p.m.), Tim Leavitt, David Madore, Tom Mielke, Larry 
Smith, Steve Stuart 

 
ABSENT: None 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
Executive Director/CEO Jeff Hamm, Legal Counsel Tom Wolfendale, Director of Operations Lynn 
Halsey, Interim Director of Development & Public Affairs Jim Quintana, Interim Director of 
Administrative Services Julie DeBoever, Director of Maintenance Celia Sherbeck, Operations Chief 
Debra Wright, Senior Manager of Information Technology Bob McMahan, Passenger Service 
Manager Walt Gordon, Community Involvement Coordinator Katy Belokonny, and Executive 
Assistant/Clerk of the Board Debbie Jermann. 
 
CITIZEN COMMUNICATION TO THE BOARD 
 
EDWARD L. BARNES, 4009 NE 50th Ave., Vancouver, WA said at the September 10, 2013 Board 
Meeting, staff was given direction to put together a plan on how to fund Operations and 
Maintenance for the Columbia River Crossing (CRC) light rail. Mr. Barnes urged the Board to 
ensure the information presented by C-TRAN staff is given the same consideration as they give to 
information prepared by staff at their respective entities, and provide staff the opportunity to 
answer questions. Mr. Barnes said the public needs to understand the consequences on economic 
development of the CRC project not moving forward. Mr. Barnes commended C-TRAN staff on the 
information provided and urged the Board to support. 
 
  

33



KELLY PARKER, 1101 Broadway #100, Vancouver, WA said as a representative of the Greater 
Vancouver Chamber of Commerce, she has been directed by the Chamber board to state that the 
Chamber supports the proposal before the Board as it does not require additional sales tax 
revenue to fund the operations and maintenance for light rail. The Chamber reaffirms the need for 
an I-5 Bridge, sooner rather than later. 
 
Ms. Parker said speaking as a private citizen, and a 22-year resident of Clark County, she has 
raised her children and worked in the local community and believes the CRC project, due to the 
light rail component, has exposed deep seeded fears in the community of being taken over by 
Portland. Ms. Parker stated the community cannot go backwards economically. The economy is 
improving and the recession has ended, yet Clark County is still realizing higher unemployment 
that the rest of the state. Ms. Parker said she believes the rest of the State of Washington is being 
successful due to their investment in infrastructure. Ms. Parker urged the Board to act like 
partners with Portland rather than enemies. 
 
Board Member David Madore asked Ms. Parker if she has polled all of the members of the Greater 
Vancouver Chamber of Commerce regarding support for the CRC project. 
 
Ms. Parker said when polled, 1/3 of the members said they did not support any new taxes, 1/3 
supported the project but did not support a new tax, and 1/3 supported the project. 
 
DON RUSSO, 1101 Broadway #100, Vancouver, WA said he is a Board Member of the Greater 
Vancouver Chamber, however, is speaking this evening as a citizen and Downtown Vancouver 
business man. Mr. Russo stated that the CRC project is critical, as multi-modal modes of 
transportation promote growth. Mr. Russo said light rail is an investment for their grandchildren 
and great grandchildren. Mr. Russo questioned if the community continues to be stifled, how can 
we expect business to grow. Mr. Russo urged the C-TRAN Board to support the proposal, and 
asked that local and state legislators do everything possible to consider and adopt a 
transportation budget for the State of Washington. 
 
FRANK DECKER, 208 SE 169th Ave., Vancouver WA said he understands the affects of bullying and 
shared the definition of bullying with the Board. Mr. Decker said he feels what is being proposed 
passes the bullying test and by voting to bypass the will of the majority and C-TRAN Board Policy, 
the Board would demonstrate imbalance over the voters and those who vote to support the 
proposal are nothing more than schoolyard bullies. Mr. Decker said as a voter, he has had enough 
of the nonsense and asked Board Members to remember who they work for when they vote on the 
proposal. Mr. Decker said the Board Members only job is to do the will of the majority rather than 
the will of Portland, TriMet, or special interests invested in the project. Mr. Decker stated the 
adopted C-TRAN Board Policy states no C-TRAN funds can be spent on the project without a vote, 
and the voters have already said no. Mr. Decker encouraged the Board to do the right thing and be 
a representative of the people. 
 
CAROLYN CRAIN, Vancouver, WA stated she appreciated the opportunity for public comment. Ms. 
Crain noted there is a $400,000 gap in funding, and that service will be cut on four bus lines. Ms. 
Crain also noted that the proposal states C-TRAN will pay 63.2 percent of the costs, while TriMet 
will pay 36.8 percent of the costs, and questioned the funding split given the proposed boundary. 

34



Ms. Crain stated she spoke to people who ride the #4 route from Smith Tower, and they were 
upset when she told them that their service would be cut if light rail comes into Clark County as 
proposed. Ms. Crain reminded the Board that when the Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) was 
chosen in 2008, all Board Members, including Board Member Tim Leavitt, were aware any means 
chosen to fund would have to go the voters for approval. 
 
LEE JENSEN, 605 SW Eaton Blvd., Battle Ground, WA thanked the Board Members who voted to 
give C-TRAN staff the authority to consult with TriMet on terms for a possible agreement. Mr. 
Jensen said he supports light rail, given the majority of funding for the project will come from 
Federal grants, which in turn returns some of the federal tax dollars to the community. Mr. Jensen 
said he feels there is a C-TRAN Board Member that would not support the project even if it were 
built using no local funds, and questioned Board Member Madore’s intentions to help the 
community and the economy with his actions. 
 
PAULINE WARREN, 6800 NE 58th St., Vancouver, WA read portions of a letter from Representative 
Jaime Herrera Beutler into the record (attached to these minutes as Exhibit A). 
 

KEVIN VanGELDER, 22308 NE 68th St., Vancouver, WA said he concurs with statements made by 
Frank Decker, and added that he feels the CRC project is ridiculous and it is obvious the citizens do 
not want to fund the project. Mr. VanGelder said the TriMet system is subsidized by tax dollars, 
and the Washington Legislature voted to not fund completely fund the CRC project because light 
rail was included. Mr. VanGelder said he believes the voters may listen if a bridge proposal is 
presented that does not include light rail. 
 
SCOTT HORENSTEIN, 4804 Dubois Dr., Vancouver, WA urged the Board to focus on safety, stating 
that the current I-5 Bridge is not safe. The current bridge is deficient and the only option is to 
replace the current bridge. Mr. Horenstein urged the Board to support the proposal. 
 
Roy Jennings arrived at 7:32 p.m. 
 
PATRICK WELSH, 8701 E. Mill Plain, #64, Vancouver, WA said he is a resident of East Clark County 
and is opposed to the CRC project. The voters overwhelming said no numerous times, and many 
small businesses that make deliveries are opposed to the project due to the increase in cost of 
tolls. 
 
BRIAN AKERSON, 835 NW 21st Ave., Vancouver, WA said he is a retired navy commander, and 
worked as an operations manager for a Portland company. Mr. Akerson stated C-TRAN ridership 
has been stagnant for the past 10 years and this needs to be considered. Mr. Akerson said he is 
concerned that there are no provisions for cost overruns in the financial plan. 
 
JIM KARLOCK, Portland, OR said including light rail in the bridge replacement is what inflates 
costs. Mr. Karlock shared audio clips of Board Member Leavitt speaking about tolls. 
 
LISA ROSS, 324 NW 87th St., Vancouver, WA stated she has lived in Hazel Dell for 10 years, and said 
people are ready to get to work on a replacement bridge, but including light rail is not the answer. 
Ms. Ross said she does not support replacing C-TRAN Express Bus service with light rail. 

35



 
BILL TURLEY, Vancouver, WA stated Washington State Legislative Economists have found flaws in 
the financial plan for the CRC project. Mr. Turley added that he has been told there is not a critical 
timing issue, and urged the Board to take the proposal back to their respective jurisdictions to find 
if there is support before voting. Mr. Turley said the FTA New Starts application could be 
submitted at anytime, as pointed out by Congresswoman Herrera Beutler. Mr. Turley said a delay 
in action would allow time to identify the third party contributor who will fund the $400,000 gap 
in funding. 
 
RICK CRAIN, 5917 NE 47th St., Vancouver, WA questioned the Board Members continued support 
of the project. Mr. Crain said he commutes to Portland every day and does not feel light rail is the 
solution, but rather another bridge needs to be built. Mr. Crain said approval of the proposal 
would put a burden on his budget, affecting how much money he is able to spend in the 
community. Mr. Crain urged the Board to vote no on any support for the CRC project. 
 
JUDY TIFFANY, Vancouver, WA said she supports the CRC project, and added that residents of the 
Fourth Plain corridor rely heavily on public transportation. 
 
STATE REPRESENTATIVE LIZ PIKE, 26300 NE 3rd St., Camas, WA urged the C-TRAN Board to vote 
on the proposal. Representative Pike stated she represents approximately 137,000 people, and 
she is speaking for those who live outside the boundary and have no service, but still pay taxes. 
Representative Pike urged the Board to defer a decision until after the November 5, 2013 election.  
Representative Pike said she is concerned with the financial condition of TriMet, including the 
substantial unfunded pension liability, and that TriMet will have to make substantial cuts to 
service if their financial issues are not resolved. Representative Pike urged the Board to allow the 
people who will have to pay for the project have a voice. 
 
CAROL ANDERSON said she supports the CRC project and supports a third bridge. Ms. Anderson 
said light rail gets you where you want to go on time and is efficient. Ms. Anderson said as her 
vision continues to fail, she will become more dependent on public transportation, and there are 
destinations that a bus cannot get her to on time. Ms. Anderson urged everyone to try riding light 
rail and urged the Board to favorably consider the proposal. 
 
HARRY ANDERSON, 1719 NW Trillium Lane, Vancouver, WA said as he drove from Portland to 
Vancouver this evening, the traffic was gridlocked and moving approximately 3 mph. More people 
need to be convinced to get out of their cars and use public transportation or there will be 
complete gridlock on the freeways. Mr. Anderson said the Board needs to seriously consider how 
to move people and he feels light rail is one of the best options. 
 
JOHN BURKE, 15620 NE 15th St., Vancouver, WA submitted written comments and read those 
comments into the record (attached to these minutes as Exhibit B). Mr. Burke urged the Board to 
say no to the funding proposal. 
 
  

36



GINGER METCALF, 400 W. 8th St., #402, Vancouver, WA said she is a 23 year resident of 
Vancouver. Ms. Metcalf said the Board approved the LPA in 2008 and said if the Board is a Board 
of their word, they will continue to demonstrate their support the current CRC project. Ms. Metcalf 
shared a quote from Senator Cleveland, “I believe history will judge us as leaders by how well we 
prepare for the future and that of future generations.” Ms. Metcalf stated the future must be 
considered for our children and grandchildren and urged the Board to exhibit leadership qualities. 
 
SENATOR JIM MOELLER, 4600 NW Harney St., Vancouver, WA stated he represents Senate District 
49, which is the only district where the bridge is located. Senator Moeller urged the Board to 
approve the funding proposal and enter into the partnership with TriMet. Senator Moeller 
thanked the Board for their service and for listening to the testimony of the citizens. 
 
DICK SOHN, 4610 Oregon Dr., Vancouver, WA read verbatim a post from Board Member David 
Madore’s Facebook page as follows:  “Oh my gosh! I just read through C-Tran’s CRC plan of pure 
insanity! No kidding! I laughed out loud as I read through the unbelievable complexity of the 
multi-billion dollar CRC TriMet Bi-State ODOT WSDOT, City of Vancouver, FTA preliminary draft of 
C-Tran's proposed Light Rail agreements for operations and maintenance and monstrous 
bureaucracy to manage the shared comprehensive budgets, multi-agency finances, shared fares 
and farebox systems, fare vending machines, shared casualty and liability insurance, training, 
testing, train fleet management, mutually controlled multiple transit district governing boards 
subject to the laws of two different states, bi-state labor negotiations, Oregon controlled tolls, 
lubrication and adjusting heated track switches, maintenance of track bed, track drains, 
structures, electrolytic corrosion mitigation measures, light rail communications systems, train-
wayside communications systems, radio systems, dispatch equipment and facilities, vehicle 
locator systems, light rail signals systems, central operation control centers, data acquisition 
systems, electrification systems, automatic block systems, street-crossing warning devices, logic 
control systems, on-board traffic signal preemption systems, emergency warning systems, video 
surveillance systems, fire protection systems, security operations at stations and park-and-rides, 
fare inspectors, transfer of assets, TriMet authority of negotiations and purchases of Washington 
properties using C-Tran eminent domain, parking access management and enforcement, rail 
grinding, track lining maintenance, surfacing, worn rail replacement, grade crossing 
reconstruction replacement, damaged track replacement, bridge maintenance costs, temporary 
bus bridge service backup for power outages, weather impairments, accidents, incident response 
systems, all without any sufficient means identified to fund it if we could ever build it within the 
11 allotted years of construction, and much much more. Or we can just take the bus. It’s faster, 
simpler, lower cost, more reliable, more flexible, already operating and paid for. This is our agenda 
for Thursday’s special C-Tran meeting. Is this an IQ test?” 
 
DENNIS HENRY, 5209 NE 34th St., Vancouver, WA said he has lived along Fourth Plain and also 
lived in the Orchards area and has witnessed the growth of Clark County and the City of 
Vancouver. Mr. Henry said it seems to him that each year, bus service is cut and the bus stops 
grow farther apart. The current CRC plan proposed additional cuts to bus service, making the 
service further inaccessible to those who use the service. Mr. Henry said the previous CRC plan 
was based on flawed data and he cannot trust the current dollar figures in the current proposal. 
Mr. Henry urged the Board to vote against the proposal. 
 

37



PAUL MONTAGUE, Vancouver, WA stated he is the President of Identity Clark County, and urged 
the Board to approve the proposal, and make light rail service in Clark County a reality. Mr. 
Montague said this project has been in process for over 14 years, thousands of citizens have 
weighed in, and the project would create thousands of jobs. Recently, the economic benefits of the 
project have been shared, including an estimated 44 percent increase in value of those properties 
along the light rail line. Mr. Montague said light rail transit lines attract investment, which is vital 
to growth in the City of Vancouver and Clark County. Mr. Montague urged the Board to move 
forward and support light rail in Vancouver. 
 
JODI PARKER said she represents the Columbia Pacific Building Trades and unions who train 
people to build these types of projects. Ms. Parker urged the Board to support the proposal, 
quoting Frederick Douglas who said, “If there is no struggle, there is no progress.” Ms. Parker said 
she hopes to see the project built for her children and grandchildren. Mr. Parker thanked the 
Board for their service. 
 
MARGARET TWEET, Camas, WA submitted information regarding ridership (attached to these 
minutes as Exhibit C) and reiterated some of the information in the exhibit. 
 
SHARON NASSET, 1113 N. Baldwin St., Portland, OR thanked C-TRAN for conducting the meeting 
to allow testimony. Ms. Nasset said the financial proposal has many flaws, and urged the Board to 
take the proposal back to their respective jurisdictions for consideration. There is not a timeline 
issue and urged the Board to delay a vote. Ms. Nasset also asked the Board to reaffirm to the 
community that no matter how light rail or and high capacity transit proposal is funded or will 
affect the community, that the community is allowed to vote. 
 
SENATOR DON BENTON, PO Box 5076, Vancouver, WA said both the Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) and the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) show 
the I-5 Bridge on their seismic plans, and neither agency was able to show where any seismic 
damage exists on the current bridge. Senator Benton said he does not believe the project will 
create jobs, but rather result in loss of jobs in Downtown Vancouver during construction. Senator 
Benton said if C-TRAN enters into an agreement with TriMet, the agency is going into business 
with an agency that is close to bankruptcy. Senator Benton said families cannot afford to pay the 
tolls and urged the Board to vote no on the proposal. 
 
JOSEPH WAGNER, 11900 NE 18th St., Apt. 561, Vancouver, WA said he does not feel Oregon should 
be able to tell Washington how to build roads and bridges. Mr. Wagner added that applause is 
Freedom of Expression. 
 
SHANNON WALKER stated she is the President of the Labor Council in SW Washington and said 
labor supports the CRC Bridge Project as follows: 1) will generate jobs; 2) improves 
transportation, which helps obtain and retain jobs in Northern Washington (i.e. Boeing). Ms. 
Walker said she would like to see some of the transportation improvement funds being spent in 
Clark County as opposed to King County. Ms. Walker said the State of Oregon funded the I-205 
Bridge, and urged the Board to act now or lose the funding that is available for this project. 
 
  

38



Written Comments: 
 
RED WARREN, 6800 NE 568th St., Vancouver, WA “I strongly oppose light rail in Vancouver. I 
would hope that any funding agenda would not go through until after a vote by the citizens has 
been conducted.” 
 
PETER VAN NOAWID, 11400 NE 43rd Ave., Vancouver, WA “The CRC will impact in a negative way 
the property values in the outlaying areas. At this time, the CRC has not done a study on the impact 
of property values. My wife commutes to Hillsboro and is the GM of the Marriott close to the max 
line. Daily people ask her about taking light rail to the airport. When she tells them the time it 
takes, they always request a town car or cab. Max is too slow and not the best system for Clark 
County.” 
 
Josh Soske, E-Mail Dated 9/26/13 - Exhibit D 
John Ley, E-Mail Dated 9/26/13 - Exhibit E 
Ms. Cannon, Via C-TRAN’s Customer Comment Module Dated 9/25/13 - Exhibit F 
Michele Wollert, E-Mail Dated 9/25/13 - Exhibit G 
Tiffany Couch, E-Mail Dated 9/26/13 - Exhibit H 
Lew Waters, E-Mail Dated 9/25/13 - Exhibit I 
 
ACTION ITEMS 
 
DAVID MADORE MOTIONED, TOM MIELKE SECONDED, AND MOTION FAILED BY THE BLOCK VETO 
BEING USED BY THE CITY OF VANCOUVER REPRESENTATIVES, TO MOVE CONSIDERATION THE 
SECOND ACTION ITEM FIRST (BOARD RESOLUTION BR-13-015, PRESENTED BY BOARD MEMBER 
DAVID MADORE; A RESOLUTION TO UPHOLD FOUNDATIONAL C-TRAN ADOPTED POLICIES) 
 

CONNIE JO FREEMAN – YES  BILL GANLEY - YES 
BART HANSEN - NO   RON ONSLOW - NO 
TIM LEAVITT - NO    DAVID MADORE - YES 
TOM MIELKE -YES    LARRY SMITH - NO 
STEVE STUART - YES 

 
POTENTIAL AGREEMENTS AND FINANCE PLAN FOR THE BI-STATE PHASED CONSTRUCTION OF 
THE COLUMBIA RIVER CROSSING PROJECT, STAFF REPORT #13-045 
 
Executive Director/CEO Jeff Hamm, Legal Counsel Tom Wolfendale, and Steve Siegel of Siegel 
Consulting provided the staff report as outlined in the PowerPoint presentation, attached to these 
minutes as Exhibit J. 
 
At the May 23, 2013 C-TRAN Board meeting, for the purposes of discussion, the Board directed 
staff to begin drafting terms for a contract with TriMet for maintenance and operation of the light 
rail transit (LRT) component in Vancouver of the Washington State Department of Transportation 
(WSDOT) led Columbia River Crossing Project (CRC). The Board also directed staff to draft a 
finance plan to fund the cost of operating the LRT in Vancouver without raising taxes. On July 2, 
2013, WSDOT issued to C-TRAN a stop work order on the CRC project because of loss of funding 

39



for the project from the Washington State Legislature. Over the course of the summer, the State of 
Oregon began exploring an option to assume the lead for the project and for TriMet to become the 
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) grantee in place of WSDOT. 
 
At the September 10, 2013 C-TRAN Board meeting, the Board authorized the expenditure of 
resources for staff to expeditiously evaluate and prepare Bi-State CRC related agreements, terms 
and finance plan, and to present the same as soon as possible to the Board. 
 
Staff has prepared a list of key agreements and approvals necessary to be executed in order for 
FTA to consider granting the Phased Bi-State CRC a full funding grant agreement (FFGA) for the 
capital cost of the light rail component of the project and a portion of the bridge crossing 
structure. 
 
Staff has also prepared a draft term sheet between C-TRAN and TriMet for project development 
and operation and maintenance of the LRT extension between Expo Center and the Clark Park & 
Ride. In summary form, the term sheet establishes the following: 
 

Section 2 – Cooperative setting of service levels, operations, and maintenance policies. 
 
Section 3 – Mutual setting of transit fares and allocation formula for associated revenues. 
 
Section 4 – C-TRAN and TriMet Board processes for setting service levels and budgeting for 
costs of operation and maintenance. 
 
Section 5 – Quarterly payment schedule for payment of estimated costs. 
 
Section 6 – Annual reconciliation of estimated payments to audited costs. 
 
Section 7 – Designation of operation and maintenance functions and costs to be the sole 
responsibility of each transit district e.g. routine maintenance of trackway, park and ride 
lots, light rail stations located respectively within each district, marketing/public 
information/outreach, and utility costs. 
 
Section 8 – Description of mutual operations and maintenance costs to be shared including 
light rail vehicle, track and system maintenance, labor of operators, supervisors, fare 
inspectors and on train security and capital maintenance. General and administrative 
overhead is not included as a mutual cost. Each transit district will be responsible for those 
costs. Note in Section 8.1.6 that the parties acknowledge that TriMet’s unfunded pension 
legacy costs and unfunded medical benefits costs will be excluded from any calculation of 
mutual O & M costs as they relate to the C-TRAN share. Also, note that in Section 8.8.2 the 
apportionment of 63.2% of Mutual O & M costs to C-TRAN and 36.8% to TriMet represents 
the Oregon/Washington state line as the dividing point for calculations. 
 

  

40



Section 9 – Describes respective FTA reporting requirements and obligations. 
 
Section 10 – Addresses the crediting of federal State of Good Repair grant funds to the 
project (see Finance Plan). 
 
Section 11 – Describes the process and responsibilities for property acquisition. 
 
Section 12 – Provides for a dispute resolution process. 

 
Staff also prepared a draft finance plan for C-TRAN’s share of the maintenance and operation of 
the LRT. The costs, revenues, and service hours expressed are derived from most recent C-TRAN 
and TriMet figures, plans and modeling of costs and revenues. Page one utilizes the draft term 
sheet to calculate and allocate C-TRAN and TriMet district, shared costs, and then subtracts 
estimated farebox and federal State of Good Repair grant funding. The Funding for C-TRAN Share 
section proposes means to fund the required C-TRAN subsidy without raising taxes.  
 
A third party contribution of $400,000 is assumed throughout the operations term to reduce the 
funding obligation of C-TRAN. Also, note that beginning in year 2027 additional funding will be 
needed to fund the subsidy gap because the sales tax revenue windfall garnered from the 
construction of the project will have been exhausted. 
 
The draft Finance Plan does not currently contain an assumption for revenue derived from 
charging for parking in the park and ride lots. Staff has prepared an outline of the considerations 
and types of analyses that would need to be undertaken to provide a reasonable dollar estimate 
and when it might be realizable. 
 
Board Member Madore asked what is considered an asset. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm said assets include park & ride lots, track, stations, etc.) 
 
Board Member Madore asked if the assets are paid for using federal funding or State of Oregon 
funding, they will be transferred to C-TRAN ownership. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm stated that is correct. 
 
Board Member Madore asked if Oregon could legally transfer those assets. 
 
Legal Counsel Wolfendale stated TriMet has indicated they do intend to transfer the assets and 
have the legal authority to do so. 
 
Mr. Siegel said TriMet would be the full funding grantee, so they do have the authority to transfer 
assets. 
 
Board Member Mielke asked what funds would pay for the light rail portion. 
 
  

41



Executive Director/CEO Hamm said the finance plan has those specifics. 
 
Board Member Madore asked how often the TriMet Yellow Line runs. 
 
TriMet Director of Policy & Planning Alan Lehto said it varies between 10 and 17 minutes, as it 
runs more frequently during peak hours. 
 
Board Member Madore asked what the frequency of the line running in Clark County would be. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm said that is a detail that would be worked out in the five-year plan 
and budget negotiations. 
 
Board Member Madore asked if the adopted LPA included frequency. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm said no. 
 
TriMet Policy & Planning Director Lehto stated he believes it is estimated for a 15-minute 
frequency, with a goal of service provided 7 days per week, with additional service during peak 
hours. 
 
Board Member Madore asked for an estimate of what C-TRAN’s share for security, fare 
enforcement, etc., would be. 
 
Mr. Spiegel said the assumption is for fare inspectors and onboard security at the same level that 
TriMet uses on their system, and would estimate 2 full time officers (security between Expo 
System and end of line at Clark College). 
 
Board Member Madore asked who makes condemnation decisions. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm said that would be a C-TRAN Board decision. 
 
Board Member Madore asked what happens if the Board says no. 
 
Executive Director/CEO said that would have to be dealt with as it occurs. 
 
Chair Bill Ganley said the terms indicate that C-TRAN “shall” use eminent domain authority. 
 
Legal Counsel Wolfendale stated if the C-TRAN Board refused to use their eminent domain 
authority, there is a potential for material breach of contract. 
 
Board Member Madore said it would essentially give TriMet a blank check that C-TRAN would 
approve all eminent domain requests. 
 
  

42



Executive Director/CEO Hamm advised that TriMet works very hard to not use eminent domain. 
 
Board Member Madore questioned if the current C-TRAN Board has the authority to make 
decisions that bind future Boards. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm said yes. 
 
Legal Counsel Wolfendale said if it was found that C-TRAN materially breached the contract, 
TriMet could attempt to recover damages. 
 
Board Member Madore said the C-TRAN Board that will be seated in January 2014 should make 
this decision. 
 
Board Member Madore said he thought that bus service could not be truncated to pay for light rail. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm stated that is correct, but duplicate service can be eliminated, 
which is what is proposed. 
 
Board Member Madore said he thought that FTA required committed, dependable funding to be 
identified to apply for a grant. The financial plan speculates additional revenue. 
 
Mr. Siegel stated the plan assumes seven to eight percent increase over a 10-year period due to 
increased ridership and additional service. 
 
Board Member Madore asked for clarification of the sales tax receipt revenue after light rail begins 
operation, beginning in 2019 and continuing through 2027. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm said the project is scheduled to be constructed over a period of 8 
years. While some aspects will begin operation, others will still be under construction. During 
construction, there will be surplus revenue that will be included in the sinking fund. 
 
Board Member Connie Jo Freeman said in Representative Herrera Beutler’s letter, she urges the 
Board to consider this “hole in the finance plan” when deciding if the plan provides the stable and 
dependable financing source required by federal officials. 
 
Board Member Larry Smith asked if TriMet has a standardization of level of security on light rail. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm said TriMet has a policy; however, on the Washington side of the 
river, security is a cost born by C-TRAN, therefore, level of security could be set by C-TRAN. 
 
Chair Ganley said there is a constitutional issue with the use of eminent domain, and given the 
“foggy” funding estimates, he feels the estimates may be rushed. 
 
  

43



Board Member Tim Leavitt said the discussion on the project has been ongoing for a decade and in 
2008, the C-TRAN Board approved the LPA. Board Member Leavitt said he appreciates the work of 
staff over the past two weeks to provide the Board with the information in front of the Oregon 
State Legislatures deadline. Board Member Leavitt stated there are many details that must be 
worked out with TriMet; however, C-TRAN Executive Director/CEO Hamm was given direction by 
the Board to perform the work on the proposal. Staff has responded to citizens’ concerns (i.e. cap 
on expense, no debt obligation, involving the Downtown Vancouver residents and business in the 
development of the LPA and alignment). Eminent domain ensures that a fair market value is paid 
for property and is a regular occurrence in transit development. Board Member Leavitt stated 
when light rail is built in Vancouver, the Board will ensure the citizens feel safe riding the system 
and he expects the City of Vancouver Police will have an active role. 
 
Board Member Leavitt asked staff if they have had any discussions with FTA regarding the finance 
proposal. 
 
Executive Director/CEO Hamm said no, but that would be the next step. 
 
TIM LEAVITT MOTIONED AND BART HANSEN SECONDED TO AUTHORIZE THE EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR/CEO TO ENTER INTO AGREEMENTS WITH TRIMET FOR THE OPERATIONS & 
MAINTENANCE OF LIGHT RAIL AS OUTLINED IN C-TRAN STAFF REPORT #13-045, AND APPROVE 
C-TRAN BOARD RESOLUTION BR-13-014 (COMPLETE RESOLUTION ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT K) AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
1. The C-TRAN 2030 Plan implementation strategy is hereby revised to include an alternative 

to  fund the maintenance and operations of the light rail service extension from Expo Center 
to the Clark Park and Ride from among but not limited to the following sources: 
reinvestment of savings from truncating C-TRAN bus service between downtown Vancouver 
and Delta Park, lease revenue from commercial space leased in project park and ride lots, 
third party partnerships and other measures, all without seeking an increase in taxes; and 
 

2. Consistent with materials provided at its special meeting of September 26, 2013, the C-TRAN 
Executive Director/CEO is authorized to negotiate and enter into an agreement on behalf of 
C-TRAN with TriMet to provide such light rail service upon condition that a bridge is 
constructed with light rail; and 
 

3. The Executive Director/CEO is required to ensure the agreement contains the following 
terms, conditions and parameters: 

a. No commitment of C-TRAN funds shall be made to the capital costs of the project; 
b. Division of the operation and maintenance costs shall be calculated by dividing 

the length of the HCT corridor in Washington and the length of the HCT corridor in 
Oregon, as determined by the legally established state line in the Columbia River, 
by the total length of the HCT corridor from the Expo Center Station to the 
terminus at Clark Park and Ride. 

c. TriMet unfunded pension and medical benefit costs shall not be included in the 
calculation of any costs to be divided and subsequently borne by C-TRAN;  

44



d. TriMet general administrative and overhead costs shall not be included in the 
calculation of any costs to be divided and subsequently borne by C-TRAN; 

e. C-TRAN’s annual contribution to the maintenance and operation of the light rail 
extension from Expo Center Station to the Clark Park and Ride terminus shall the 
lesser of 63.2% of costs calculated or the amount listed on Exhibit B  (unless C-
TRAN secures additional revenues)of the draft agreement between TriMet and C-
TRAN for operation and maintenance of the CRC Project. 

 
Board Member Mielke said the proposal was not provided to Board Members until Tuesday, 
September 24 and he is concerned this proposal gives away Clark County rights to TriMet. The 
bridge height issue has not been resolved and there has been a lack of transparency. Board 
Member Mielke stated everyone agrees that a new crossing is need; however, WSDOT confirms 
that the current I-5 Bridge is adequate for another 60 years. Board Member Mielke said he 
believes it is time to abandon the CRC Project and explore other options. 
 
Board Member Madore asked how the C-TRAN Board could approve this irresponsible proposal. 
There are measures on the November 5, 2013 ballot that will provide the Board guidance. Board 
Member Madore said he does not feel this is how important decisions should be made, and he 
hopes there are others who have common sense that will join him in voting no. 
 
THE MOTION PASSED AS FOLLOWS: 
 

CONNIE JO FREEMAN – NO  BILL GANLEY - NO 
BART HANSEN - YES   RON ONSLOW - YES 
TIM LEAVITT - YES    DAVID MADORE - NO 
TOM MIELKE -NO    LARRY SMITH - YES 
STEVE STUART - YES 

 
BOARD RESOLUTION BR-13-015, PRESENTED BY BOARD MEMBER DAVID MADORE; A 
RESOLUTION TO UPHOLD FOUNDATIONAL C-TRAN ADOPTED POLICIES (ATTACHED TO THESE 
MINUTES AS EXHIBIT L) 
 
DAVID MADORE MOTIONED, CONNIE JO FREEMAN SECONDED, AND MOTION FAILED TO APPROVE 
C-TRAN BOARD RESOLUTION BR-13-015, RESOLVING THAT IT SHALL BE THE POLICY OF THE C-
TRAN BOARD TO UPHOLD THESE ADOPTED RESOLUTIONS, POLICIES, AND COMMITMENTS MADE 
TO C-TRAN VOTERS BY CONFIRMING THAT ANY MEANS CHOSEN TO FINANCE OPERATIONS OF 
THE HCT COMPONENT OF THE CRC PROJECT SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO IMPACTED C-TRAN 
VOTERS FOR APPROVAL AND C-TRAN SHALL NOT DIVERT ANY EXISTING REVENUES TO FUND 
CRC LRT OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE COSTS. 
 
  

45



VOTE ON THE MOTION AS FOLLOWS: 
 

CONNIE JO FREEMAN – YES  BILL GANLEY - YES 
BART HANSEN - NO   RON ONSLOW - NO 
TIM LEAVITT - NO   DAVID MADORE - YES 
TOM MIELKE -YES   LARRY SMITH - NO 
STEVE STUART - NO 

 
Board Member Madore said anyone who voted no needs to explain why they voted against C-
TRAN Board Policy. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Hearing no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:36 p.m. 
 
 
Prepared By: Debbie Jermann 
 

46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



  
BOARD RESOLUTION BR-13-015 

 
 A RESOLUTION to uphold foundational C-TRAN adopted policies.  
 

WHEREAS, C-TRAN is considering choosing a means to finance Columbia River 
Crossing (CRC) Light Rail Transit (LRT) operations and maintenance costs; and 
 

WHEREAS, C-TRAN Board Resolution BR-08-019 adopted on July 8, 2008 states that 
“Any means chosen to finance operations of the HCT component of the CRC project shall be 
submitted to impacted C-TRAN voters for approval.”; and 

 
WHEREAS, that resolution further states “Initiation of HCT service in Clark County 

should provide a net service benefit to existing C-TRAN patrons, without diverting existing 
revenues from C-TRAN’s current operating and capital costs.”; and 

 
WHEREAS, that resolution was confirmed on May 21, 2013 in C-TRAN staff report 

#13-023 that specifically confirms that requirement as an important condition of approval 
of the CRC LPA by stating “The other important condition in C-TRAN’s LPA required a 
public vote for ‘any means chosen’ to finance CRC LRT operations and maintenance costs 
on the Washington side of the project. In response, C-TRAN conducted a ballot measure to 
fund its share of the CRC LRT operations and maintenance costs in November 2012. The 
ballot measure did not pass”. 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that it shall be the policy of the C-TRAN Board 
to uphold these adopted resolutions, policies, and commitments made to C-TRAN voters 
by confirming that any means chosen to finance operations of the HCT component of the 
CRC project shall be submitted to impacted C-TRAN voters for approval and C-TRAN shall 
not divert any existing revenues to fund CRC LRT operations and maintenance costs. 

  
RESOLVED AND ADOPTED THIS 26th day of September 2013. 

 
Ayes :        
 
Nays :   
 
Absent :        
 __________________________________                                              
 William J. Ganley, Chair      
Attest: 
 
________________________ 
Debbie Jermann 
Clerk of the Board  

84
Exhibit L 

Meeting Date: 9/26/13 
Received By: D. Jermann




